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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Agecroft is situated on twenty~-three acres of land located between the James River
and Sulgrave Road in the Windsor Farms area of Richmond. Entrance to the estate is pro-
vided by two access roads, one for service and a more formal drive containing the gate.
The property consists of the main dwelling and its amenities as well as a formal English
garden located to the east of the manor house. -

Erected in 1926-7 in the Tudor-Revival style, the house incorporates architectural
fragments from a l6th~century English priory and from Agecroft, a late 15th~century
-English manor hoyse. On the use of the fragments, an early history of the house contains
the following notice: ' R

The new Agecroft was to be smaller than the ofiginal, since only
the best parts had been brought from England, and the needs of Mr.
Williams (for whom the house was built) were not excessive. However,
a new addition was necessary-a service wing in harmonizing style. Changes
in ground plan were also made, certain sections were to be placed in.
new relations to each other. All four sides of the former quadrangle
were not to be reproduced. '

Agecroft consists of a two-and-one-half-story, stone-foundation, gable-roof manor
house from which radiates a series of wings and dependencies. The exterior walls of the
_complex ara finished in a variety of decorative timber framing including oramental and
herringbone paneling and small framing. Most of the architectural fragments found on
both the interior and exterior of the house date from the late 16th and 17th centuries.
Between the exposed timbers is rough-cast stucco which conceals a steel frame. Casement
windows of latticed leaded glass are used throughout the building. Stone shingles cover
the roof. ' ‘

The main (north) facade is divided into two. sections by a projecting central wing
which defines one wall of a flagstone-laid courtyard. The main entrance is approached
through an open loggia, the posts of which support the projecting wing. The entrance
consists of a simple, segmental Tudor arch doorway similar in execution to others found
throughout the complex. The most commanding feature of the elevation is a multi-sectioned,
five-part transom window, twenty-five feet long, which retains most of its diamond-shaped
quarrels. A stained-glass coat of arms as well as circular quarrels date to the 19th
century. The window was transported intact from the original Agecroft and dates to the
17th century. Above the window are found smaller leaded-glass casement windows of the
same variety repeatedly used throughout the house. Two projecting gables break the roof
line, which is accentuated by the ornamental paneling found on the facade.

A service wing comprises the other half of the north elevation. Like the opposite
end of the elevation, an enclosed cobblestone courtyard is formed from the projecting
central wing and a side wing which contains a four-bay garage. Leaded-glass windows
and close studding with middle rail framing characterize the facade.

Although the river (south) facade is more regular than the north, it contains similar
detailing. Each bay of the elevation contains a large, leaded-glass window on the first
story and an oriel window on the second story with a projecting gable on the roof line.
The southwestern section contains the service wing, set back from the river elevation and

enclosed by a brick wall on the west elevation.
(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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Set zbove the James River in the fashionable Windsor Farms residential district of
Richmond, Agecroft is a striking = Tudor-Revival dwelling which is significant at once as
an architectural monument and as a product of the social and aesthetic ideals of upper-
class Virginians in the 1920s., Built in part with fragments from a post-medieval English
manor house, Agecroft was erected in 1926-28 for Thomas C. Williams, Jr., a Richmond
businessman. -

In the twenties many Americans felt threatened both by the growth of an uxban
industrial society and by the large numbers of central and southern Eurcpean immigrants
who provided the labor for it. This sense of threat was manifested in many ways; some
were political and involved efforts to reduce the numbers of new immigrants as well as
to limit the influence of those who had already arrived. Events such as the Red Scare
of 1919 reflected this fear that the new ethnic groups were a threat to accustomed

ways of life.

A less active but equally direct manifestation of this fear lay in the renewed
appreciation for the values and heritage of "Anglo-Saxon" society. Patriotic and
genealogical societies multiplied, and the American experience was defined by many in
terms of the ¢ontributions.of pré-Revolutionary English settlers.

Architecturally this impulse was expressed in a fondness for the domestic architec-
tural forms of late Tudor and Stuart England. Whereas the wealthy and powerful of late
19th-century America tended to build palaces modeled after those of the European
Renaissance, men like Williams fancied themselves the heirs of the landed gentry of post-
medieval England and clothed themselves in the picturesque trappings of that era. It was
not surprising, then, that Williams should take advantage of the opportunity to acquire
Agecroft Hall, a large, courtyarded manor house in Lancashire, England.

Possibly begun in the late 15th century by John Langley, Agecroft Hall, as it stood

in 1925, was a late lé6th-century house. Itg half timbering, linenfold paneling, decorative

chimmey stacks, and other salient features were peculiarly characteristic of late Tudor
building in the West of England. Williams had the building dismantled and brought parts
of it back to Virginia. Under the direction of New York architect Homer G. Morse and the
construction firm of Allen J. Saville and Company, a new, steel-framed house was erected.
The new house was not a reconstruction of the original. It did incorporate some of the
structural elements and many of the decorative features of the English house as well as
a stairway from Warwick Priory, another large post-medieval English house which had been

dismantled. Parts of Warwick Priory were erected as Virginia House, adjacent to Agecroft.

in Richmond. .

{See Continuation Sheet #2)
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DESCRIPTION

The garden or east elevation cortains a simple-frame, segmental pointed-arch
doorway with leaded-glass windows on the first and second stories in a wing that
projects from the main block of the house. The elevation faces onto a magnificent
formal garden ornamented with statuary and lined with boxwood. The garden is
terraced in orxder to conform to the slope of the promontory and was laid out by the
noted landscape architect Charles Gillette.

The plan of Agecroft is as asymmetrical as the exterior. The first floor contains
a formal entry foyer with an intricately carved oak staircase taken from Warwick
Priory. Of special note are the grape-motif carved newels of medieval inspiration.
Recessed paneling with incised molding down the stiles and rails complement the stair,
The hall ceiling is decorated with ornamental strapwork which is also found throughout
the first-floor rooms. The staircase leads to a balcony which overlooks the "Great
Hall", from which radiate the principal rooms on the first floor. Besides the pre-’
viously mentioned window, the Hall contains ocak recessed paneling similar in execution
to that found in the entry foyer. Other notable rooms are the formal dining room and
drawing room, each containing oak recessed paneling and strapwork ceilings. A
passage between the first-floor rooms exhibits elaborate linenfold paneling and a
series of eight oak relief carvings. Four of the carvings are believed to represent
portraits. The other four represent a classic Renaissance-style man. The second floor|
contains the bedrooms and a library, the largest room in the house. The library con-
tains oak recessed paneling and an exposed timber ceiling. It is the only room that
preserves the original furnishings of the builder of Agecroft, Thomas C. Williams.

The park surrounding the house is beautifully landscaped, also after the designs
of Charles Gillette. When viewed from the river, the estate presents a picture of an
English manor as revived and interpreted on the Virginia landscape.

RCC

Agecroft consists of 23.106 acres, the original size of the estate as laid out
by T. C. Williams and landscaped by the landscape architect Charles Gillette. The
northern boundary of Agecroft abuts the southern line of Sulgrave Road, the western
boundary abuts the property line of Virginia House, the southern boundary follows the
natural shoreline of the James River, and the eastern boundary fellows the southern

line of Long Lane,
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8. SIGNIFICANCE

Williams built his new house on Windsor, a farm which he owned on the western
edge of Richmond. Most of the tract was then divided into generous building lots,
and an exclusive subdivision was erected over the next several years. In its
American Georgian-style houses, Windsor Farms reflected the ideals discussed above;
its "Colonial" architecture graphically expressed the social and architectural
relationship between Agecroft and its neighbors.

The antiquarian, Anglophile, anti-urban impulses which led to the creation of
Agecroft and Windsor Farms were explicitly acknowledged in a 1926 essay by Mary
Newton Stanard, a prominent Virginia antiquarian of the 1910s and 1920s. Windsor
Farms (a "typically English name") had "felt the heel of Indian warrior and English
pioneer.” Now T. C. Williams was fulfilling there his "vision of again planting an
English village--a glorified English village on the banks of James River/" Windsor
Farms roads would "lead the way from city noise and unrest to homes of English
architectural sturdiness. . . distinctly country homes.” 1In the erection of Virginia
House and Agecroft in their midst, Stanard went on to say, "Eniland is literally

being brouglt to America”, a feat "almost too good to be real.”

In 1968 Agecroft was given to the Agecroft Association, a groﬁp organized for
the purpose of caring for and exhibiting the house, which was opened to the public
in 1969.
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1
Mary Newton Stanard, Windsor Farms (Richmond: Privately published, 1926), n.p.
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